## On the proof of the Prime Number Theorem using Order Estimates for the Chebyshev Theta Function

#### SUBHAM DE

Department of Mathematics
Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, India.

Email: mas227132@iitd.ac.in
Website: www.sites.google.com/view/subhamde

#### Abstract

In this paper, we shall study the stellar work of Norwegian mathematician Selberg and Hungarian mathematician Erdős in providing an Elementary proof of the well-known *Prime Number Theorem*. In addition to introducing ourselves to the notion of *Arithmetic Functions*, we shall primarily focus our research on obtaining suitable estimates for the *Chebyshev Theta Function*  $\vartheta(x)$ . Furthermore, we'll try to infer about the asymptotic properties of another function  $\rho(x)$ , which shall be needed later on in establishing an equivalent statement of our main result. All the mathematical terminologies pertinent to the proof have been discussed in the earlier sections of the text.

**Keywords and Phrases:** Prime Number Theorem , Arithmetic Functions , Partial Summation Formula , Primes , Riemann Zeta Function.

2020 MSC: Primary 11-02, 11A25, 11A41, 11N37, 11N56. Secondary 11N05, 11-03.

Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023 www.ijsr.net

Licensed Under Creative Commons Attribution CC BY

Paper ID: SR231121153834

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.21275/SR231121153834

#### Contents

1	1 Introduction	2	2
<b>2</b>	2 The Prime Number Theorem	3	3
	2.1 Arithmetic Functions	. 3	3
	2.2 Statement of the Theorem	. 4	1
	2.3 Equivalent Approach of proving PNT	. 5	5
3	3 An Estimate for the Chebyshev Theta Function $\vartheta(x)$	5	5
	3.1 Approximations for $\theta_n$		5
	3.2 Divisor Function $\tau(n)$	. 7	7
	3.3 Asymptotic Relation for $\vartheta(n)$	. 8	3
4	4 Study of the function $\rho(x)$	g	)
	4.1 Formal Definition	. 9	)
	4.2 Approximations for $\rho(x)$	. (	)
	4.3 Properties of $\rho(x)$	. 10	)
5	5 Proof of the Main Theorem	12	2

#### 1 Introduction

The *Prime Number Theorem* is arguably one of the most significant results in Analytic Number Theory. It states that the number of primes less than a number x approaches  $\frac{x}{log(x)}$  as  $x \to \infty$ , i.e.,

$$\pi(x) \sim \frac{x}{\log(x)}$$

First introduced by Legendre in 1798, Chebychev made important progress towards solving this problem in 1852 when he showed that  $\pi(x)$  was the same order of magnitude as  $\frac{x}{\log(x)}$  by using elementary techniques. Although the bounds of  $\pi(x)$  were improved later on, the elementary methods employed were largely ad hoc and gave little hope of actually settling the problem. The first breakthrough came when the theorem was first proven in 1896 by Jaques Hadamard and Charles Jean de la Vallée-Poussin using integral theory and the riemann zeta function  $\zeta(s)$  defined by,

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s}$$

Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

The proof was concluded using a trigonometric identity. Later simplified proofs were developed using similar techniques.

In the year 1949, to the utter astonishment of the mathematical world, Erdős announced that he and Selberg had developed a completely elementary proof of the theorem. The proof described explicitly in the paper gives an impression of what Selberg mentioned in his proof.

#### $\mathbf{2}$ The Prime Number Theorem

#### 2.1**Arithmetic Functions**

We first introduce some definitions of important tools required for the statement and the proof:

**Definition 2.1.1.** For each  $x \ge 0$  ,we define,

$$\pi(x)$$
 = The number of primes  $\leq x$ .

**Definition 2.1.2.** For each  $x \ge 0$ , we define,

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{n \le x} \Lambda(n) ,$$

Where,

$$\Lambda(n) = \begin{cases}
log(p), & \text{if } n = p^m, \ p^m \le x, \ m \in \mathbb{N} \\
0, & \text{otherwise}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.1)

 $\Lambda(n)$  is said to be the "Mangoldt Function".

Therefore,

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{n \le x} \Lambda(n) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p, p^m \le x} \Lambda(p^m) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p \le x \frac{1}{m}} \log(p)$$
 (2.2)

**Definition 2.1.3.** For each  $x \geq 0$ , we define,

$$\vartheta(x) = \sum_{p \le x} log(p).$$

**Remark** 2.1.1. From the two definitions, it can be deduced that,

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{m \le \log_2 x} \vartheta(x^{\frac{1}{m}})$$

**Definition 2.1.4.** (Möbius Function) The Möbius Function  $\mu$  is defined as follows:

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$\mu(1) = 1.$$

If n > 1, such that suppose,  $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} p_3^{a_3} \cdots p_k^{a_k}$ . Then,

$$\mu(n) = \begin{cases}
(-1)^k, & \text{if } a_1 = a_2 = \dots = a_k = 1 \\
0, & \text{otherwise}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.3)

**Definition 2.1.5.** (Big O Notation) If g(x) > 0 for all  $x \ge a$ , we write, f(x) = O(g(x)) to mean that, the quotient,  $\frac{f(x)}{g(x)}$  is bounded for all  $x \ge a$ ; i.e., there exists a constant M > 0 such that,

$$|f(x)| \le Mg(x)$$
, for all  $x \ge a$ .

**Definition 2.1.6.** We say  $g(x) \sim f(x)$  if,  $\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{f(x)}{g(x)} = 1$ .

#### 2.2 Statement of the Theorem

**Theorem 2.2.1.** (Prime Number Theorem)

$$\pi(x) \sim \frac{x}{\log(x)}$$

In other words,

$$\lim_{x\to\infty} \frac{\pi(x)log(x)}{x} = 1$$

.

A priori having all the neccessary definitions above, we intend to prove the *Prime Number Theorem*, with an approach towards obtaining a better perception of the asymptotic behaviour of  $\pi(x)$ .

Theorem 2.2.2. We have,

$$\vartheta(x) \sim \pi(x) log(x)$$

*Proof.* Using definition,

$$\vartheta(x) = \sum_{x^{1-\varepsilon} \le p \le x} log(p) \lfloor \frac{log(x)}{log(p)} \rfloor \le \sum_{p \le x} log(x) \le \pi(x) log(x)$$

(by Theorem of partial sums of Dirichlet product)

Therefore we have, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\vartheta(x) \geq \sum_{x^{1-\varepsilon} \leq p \leq x} log(p) \geq \sum_{x^{1-\varepsilon} \leq p \leq x} (1-\varepsilon) log(x) = (1-\varepsilon)(\pi(x) + O(x^{1-\varepsilon})) log(x)$$

Since we can choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  arbitrarily, hence,

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

$$\Rightarrow \vartheta(x) \to \pi(x) log(x), \text{ as } x \to \infty$$
$$\Rightarrow \vartheta(x) \sim \pi(x) log(x) \ .$$

#### 2.3 Equivalent Approach of proving PNT

Theorem (2.2.2) implies that, in order to prove the Prime Number Theorem, it only suffices to prove that,  $\vartheta(x) \sim x$ .

**Theorem 2.3.1.** (Alternative Statement of Prime Number Theorem)

$$\vartheta(x) \sim x$$
, for  $x \ge 0$ .

For the proof, we shall be needing the following identity formulated by *Selberg*.

**Theorem 2.3.2.** (Selberg's Asymptotic Formula) For x > 0, we have,

$$\psi(x)log(x) + \sum\limits_{n \leq x} \Lambda(n) \psi(\frac{x}{n}) = 2xlog(x) + O(x)$$
 .

### 3 An Estimate for the Chebyshev Theta Function $\vartheta(x)$

#### 3.1 Approximations for $\theta_n$

Given x > 0 to be a positive real number and  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define,

**Definition 3.1.1.** 
$$\lambda_d = \lambda_{d,x} = \mu(d) \log^2(\frac{x}{d})$$

**Definition 3.1.2.** 
$$\theta_n = \theta_{n,x} = \sum_{d/n} \lambda_d$$
,

for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Using Definitions (3.1.1) and (3.1.2),

Theorem 3.1.1. We have,

$$\theta_n = \begin{cases} log^2 x, & for \ n = 1, \\ log(p), & for \ n = p^{\alpha}, \alpha \ge 1, \\ 2log(p)log(q), & for \ n = p^{\alpha}q^{\beta}, \alpha \ge 1, \beta \ge 1, \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* First case follows from *Definition* (3.1.1), since if n=1, then we have d=1, and consequently the result follows. As for the second case, we first observe that,  $\mu(p^{\alpha})=0$ , for  $\alpha>1$ .

Hence,

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

Licensed Under Creative Commons Attribution CC BY

Paper ID: SR231121153834

$$\theta_n = \log^2(x) - \log^2(\frac{x}{p}) = \log^2(x) - (\log(x) - \log(p))^2 = 2\log(x)\log(p) - \log^2(p) = \log(p)\log(\frac{x^2}{p}).$$

For the third case, the result follows from the properties of  $\mu$  and  $\log$ . We have,

$$\theta_n = \log^2(\frac{x}{1}) - \log^2(\frac{x}{p}) - \log^2(\frac{x}{q}) + \log^2(\frac{x}{pq}) = \log(p)\log(q).$$

The fourth case can be proved using induction. Consider n to be squarefree, since if  $p^2$  divides n, then  $\mu(d) = 0$  for all such d which is (are) divisible by  $p^2$  (and consequently higher powers of p).

Furthermore, we assume that,  $n = p_1 p_2 p_3 \cdots p_k$ . Then,

$$\theta_{n,x} = \theta_{n/p_k,x} - \theta_{n/p_k,x/p_k}$$
 (Using Definition (3.1.2))

Here we observe that the third case is independent of x and hence the result follows.

It follows from *Definition* (3.1.2) and *Theorem* (3.1.1) that,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \theta_n = \sum_{n \le x} \sum_{d/n} \lambda_d = \sum_{d \le x} \lambda_d \lfloor \frac{x}{d} \rfloor = x \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\lambda_d}{d} + O(\sum_{d \le x} |\lambda_d|)$$
 (3.1)

$$= x \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} log^{2}(\frac{x}{d}) + O(\sum_{d \le x} log^{2} \frac{x}{d}) = x \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} log^{2}(\frac{x}{d}) + O(x).$$
(3.2)

The same sum will be evaluated using the results:

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{\log(p)}{x} = \log(x) + O(1). \tag{3.3}$$

$$\psi(x) = O(x) \tag{3.4}$$

to approximate the remainders.

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n \leq x} \theta_n = log^2(x) + \sum_{p^{\alpha} \leq x} log(p)log(\frac{x^2}{p}) + 2 \sum_{p^{\alpha}q^{\beta} \leq x, p < q} log(p)log(q) \\ &= \sum_{p \leq x} log^2(p) + \sum_{pq \leq x} log(p)log(q) + O(\sum_{p \leq x} log(p)log(\frac{x}{p}) \\ &+ O(\sum_{p^{\alpha} \leq x, \alpha > 1} log^2(x)) + O(\sum_{p^{\alpha}q^{\beta} \leq x, \alpha > 1} log(p)log(q)) + log^2(x) \end{split}$$
(3.5)

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$=\textstyle\sum_{p\leq x}log^2(p)+\textstyle\sum_{pq\leq x}log(p)log(q)+O(x).$$

(Using the results (3.3) and (3.4))

Therefore, from (4.6) and (3.5), we get,

$$\sum_{p \le x} \log^2(p) + \sum_{pq \le x} \log(p) \log(q) = x \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} \log^2 \frac{x}{d} + O(x). \tag{3.6}$$

### **3.2** Divisor Function $\tau(n)$

The next step is to estimate the expression corresponding to the Right-Hand-Side. For this purpose, we shall use the following two important results:

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} = \log(z) + C_1 + O(z^{-\frac{1}{4}}), \tag{3.7}$$

and,

$$\frac{\tau(n)}{n} = \frac{1}{2}log^2(z) + C_2log(z) + C_3 + O(z^{-\frac{1}{4}}).$$
(3.8)

Where, we define,

**Definition 3.2.1.** For any  $n \in N$ ,

$$\tau(n) :=$$
 The number of divisors of n.

Also, in the above relations, each  $C_i$ ; i = 1, 2, 3 is an absolute constant. Also the result (3.7) is well-known and we can easily deduce the result (3.8) by partial summation formula to the well known result:

$$\sum_{n \le x} \tau(n) = zlog(z) + C_4 z + O(\sqrt{z}) .$$

Where  $C_4$  is also another absolute constant.

Using (3.7) and (3.8), we obtain the following identity:

$$log^{2}(z) = 2 \sum_{n \le x} \frac{\tau(n)}{n} + C_{5} \sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} + C_{6} + O(z^{-\frac{1}{4}}).$$

Where  $C_5$  and  $C_6$  are also absolute constants.

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

#### **3.3** Asymptotic Relation for $\vartheta(n)$

By applying z = x/d in the above identity, we get,

$$\sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} \log^2(\frac{x}{d}) = 2 \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} \sum_{r \le x/d} \frac{\tau(r)}{r} + C_5 \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} \sum_{r \le x/d} \frac{1}{n} + C_6 \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} + O(x^{-\frac{1}{4}} \sum_{d \le x} d^{-\frac{3}{4}})$$

$$= 2 \sum_{dr \le x} \frac{\mu(d)\tau(r)}{dr} + C_5 \sum_{dr \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{dr} + C_6 \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} + O(1)$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{d/n} \mu(d)\tau(\frac{n}{d}) + C_5 \sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{d/n} \mu(d) + O(1)$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} + C_5 + O(1) = 2\log(x) + O(1) .$$

( We used the following two important results:

$$\sum_{d/n} \mu(d) \tau(\frac{n}{d}) = 1, \quad and, \quad \sum_{d \le x} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} = O(1).$$

Now Identity (3.6) implies,

$$\sum_{p \le x} \log^2(p) + \sum_{pq \le x} \log(p) \log(q) = 2x \log(x) + O(x), \tag{3.9}$$

The following expression,

$$\sum_{p \le x} log^2(p) = \vartheta(x)log(x) + O(x) .$$

helps us conclude,

$$\vartheta(x)log(x) + \sum_{p \le x} log(p)\vartheta(\frac{x}{p}) = 2xlog(x) + O(x). \tag{3.10}$$

Applying partial summation on both sides of the identity (3.9), we obtain

$$\sum_{p \le x} log(p) + \sum_{pq \le x} \frac{log(p)log(q)}{log(pq)} = 2x + O\left(\frac{x}{log(x)}\right). \tag{3.11}$$

This gives,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{pq \leq x} log(p) log(q) &= \sum_{p \leq x} log(p) \sum_{q \leq x/p} log(q) = 2x \sum_{p \leq x} \frac{log(p)}{p} - \sum_{p \leq x} log(p) \sum_{qr \leq x/p} \frac{log(q) log(r)}{log(qr)} \\ &+ O\left(x \sum_{p \leq x} \frac{log(p)}{p\left(1 + log\left(\frac{x}{p}\right)\right)}\right) \end{split}$$

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$=2xlog(x)-\textstyle\sum_{qr\leq x}\frac{log(q)log(r)}{log(qr)}\vartheta\left(\frac{x}{qr}\right)+O(xlog(log(x))).$$

Applying the above results in the identity (3.9), we get,

$$\vartheta(x)log(x) = \sum_{pq < x} \frac{log(p)log(q)}{log(pq)} \vartheta\left(\frac{x}{pq}\right) + O(xlog(log(x))). \tag{3.12}$$

### 4 Study of the function $\rho(x)$

#### 4.1 Formal Definition

Our aim is to show,  $\frac{\vartheta(x)}{x} \to 1$  as  $x \to \infty$ . It is useful to consider,

$$\rho(x) := \vartheta(x) - x$$
i.e.,  $\vartheta(x) = x + \rho(x)$ 

Hence, we explore the remainder term  $\rho(x)$  in the above definition.

### **4.2** Approximations for $\rho(x)$

It implies from (3.10) that,

$$\rho(x)log(x) = -\sum_{p \le x} log(p)\rho(\frac{x}{p}) + O(x)$$
(4.1)

Now,

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{\log(p)}{x} = \log(x) + O(1) ,$$

Applying partial summation formula on both sides,

$$\sum_{pq \le x} \frac{\log(p)\log(q)}{pq} = \frac{1}{2}\log^2(x) + O(\log(x)) ,$$

Applying partial summation on both sides again,

$$\sum_{pq \le x} \frac{\log(p)\log(q)}{pq\log(pq)} = \log(x) + O(\log(\log(x))),$$

Using (3.12), we get,

$$\rho(x)log(x) = \sum_{pq \le x} \frac{log(p)log(q)}{log(pq)} \rho(\frac{x}{pq}) + O(xlog(log(x)))$$
(4.2)

Therefore we conclude from (4.1) and (4.2),

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$2|\rho(x)|log(x) \leq \sum_{p \leq x} log(p)|\rho(\frac{x}{p})| + \sum_{pq \leq x} \frac{log(p)log(q)}{log(pq)}|\rho(\frac{x}{pq})| + O(log(log(x))) ,$$

By partial summation on both the sides,

$$2|\rho(x)|log(x) \leq \sum_{n \leq x} \{ \sum_{p \leq x} log(P) + \sum_{pq \leq n} \frac{log(p)log(q)}{log(pq)} \} . \{ |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| - |\rho(\frac{x}{n+1})| \} + O(log(log(x))).$$

**Remark** 4.2.1. This inequality above follows from the previous one, because each and every term in the sum on the right-hand-side is strictly positive, and also because we are simply adding more terms to the series by allowing n that cannot be written or expressed as the product of two primes (as mentioned earlier in the proof).

Hnce using (3.11) and performing summation on both sides of the above inequality, we obtain,

$$\begin{split} 2|\rho(x)|log(x) &\leq 2\sum_{n\leq x} n\{|\rho(\frac{x}{n})| - |\rho(\frac{x}{n+1})|\} + O(\sum_{n\leq x} \frac{n}{1+log(n)}\{|\rho(\frac{x}{n}) - \rho(\frac{x}{n+1})|\}) \\ &\quad + O(xlog(log(x))) \end{split}$$
 
$$= 2\sum_{n\leq x} |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| + O(\sum_{n\leq x} \frac{n}{1+log(n)}\{\vartheta(\frac{x}{n}) - \vartheta(\frac{x}{n+1})\}) + O(x\sum_{n\leq x} \frac{1}{n(1+log(n))}) \\ &\quad + O(xlog(log(x))) \end{split}$$
 
$$= 2\sum_{n\leq x} |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| + O(\sum_{n\leq x} \frac{n}{1+log(n)}\vartheta(\frac{x}{n})) + O(xlog(log(x)))$$
 
$$= 2\sum_{n\leq x} |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| + + O(xlog(log(x))). \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$|\rho(x)| \le \frac{1}{\log(x)} \sum_{n \le x} |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| + O\left(x \frac{\log(\log(x))}{\log(x)}\right),\tag{4.3}$$

which is the property we shall use later while proving the Prime Number Theorem.

#### 4.3 Properties of $\rho(x)$

It follows from (3.3) after applying partial summation on both sides,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\vartheta(n)}{n^2} = \log(x) + O(1),$$

Using the definition,  $\vartheta(n) = n + \rho(n)$  and the result,  $\sum_{n \le x} \frac{1}{n} = \log(n) + O(1)$ , we conclude,

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\rho(n)}{n^2} = O(1).$$

Thus for chosen x > 4 and x' > x,  $\exists$  a constant  $M_1$  such that,

$$\left| \sum_{x \le n \le x'} \frac{\rho(n)}{n^2} \right| < M_1. \tag{4.4}$$

Accordingly, if  $\rho(n)$  does not change its sign in between x and x', then  $\exists y \in [x, x']$ , such that,

$$\inf_{x \le y \le x'} |\frac{\rho(y)}{y}| \{ log(\frac{x'}{x}) + O(1) \} = \inf_{x \le y \le x'} |\frac{\rho(y)}{y}| \sum_{x \le n \le x'} \frac{1}{n} \\
\le \sum_{x \le n \le x'} \inf_{x \le y \le x'} |\frac{\rho(y)}{y}| \frac{1}{n} \\
\le |\sum_{x \le n \le x'} \frac{\rho(n)}{n^2}| < M_1.$$

Thus, for different constant  $M_2 \geq 0$ ,

$$\left|\frac{\rho(y)}{y}\right| < \frac{M_2}{\log(\frac{x'}{x})}.\tag{4.5}$$

**Remark** 4.3.1. The above holds true even if  $\rho(n)$  changes sign also, since there will always be a y in the above interval, such that,  $|\rho(y)| < log(y)$ .

Therefore, for a fixed  $0 < \delta < 1$  and x > 4,  $\exists y \in [x, xe^{M_2/\delta}]$  satisfying,

$$|\rho(y)| < \delta y. \tag{4.6}$$

(3.11) implies, for y < y',

$$0 \le \sum_{y \le p \le y'} log(p) \le 2(y' - y) + O\left(\frac{y'}{log(y')}\right),$$

If  $y/2 \le y' \le 2y, y > 4$ , by Definition of  $\vartheta(x)$ , we obtain,

$$|\rho(y') - \rho(y)| \le y' - y + O\left(\frac{y'}{\log(y')}\right) \Rightarrow |\rho(y')| \le |\rho(y')| + |y' - y| + \frac{M_3 y'}{\log(y')}$$
.

Where  $M_3$  is a constant whose existence follows from the definition of the big O notation. Considering an interval  $(x, xe^{M_2/\delta})$ , using (4.6), we can assert that,  $\exists y$  in the above interval with,

$$|\rho(y)| < \delta y .$$

Therefore, for any  $y' \in [y/2, 2y]$ ,

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

SJIF (2022): 7.942

$$|\rho(y')| \le \delta y + |y' - y| + \frac{M_3 y'}{\log(x)} \Rightarrow |\frac{\rho(y')}{y'}| < 2\delta + |1 - \frac{y'}{y}| + \frac{M_3}{\log(x)}$$
.

Hence, if  $x > e^{M_3/\delta}$  and  $e^{-\delta/2} \le \frac{y'}{y} \le e^{\delta/2}$ , then,

$$\left| \frac{\rho(y')}{y'} \right| < 2\delta + (e^{\delta/2} - 1) + \delta < 4\delta$$
.

In other words, we conclude, for any  $x > e^{M_2/\delta}$ , the interval  $(x, xe^{M_2/\delta})$  will contain a sub-interval  $(y_1, y_1e^{\delta/2})$ , with the property,

$$|\rho(z)| < 4\delta$$
,

for any z in the sub-interval.

Now, we proceed to prove the *Prime Number Theorem*.

### 5 Proof of the Main Theorem

We intend to prove that,

$$\vartheta(x) \sim x$$
, i.e,  $\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\vartheta(x)}{x} = 1$ .

Equivalently,

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\rho(x)}{x} = 0 .$$

We know by definition,  $\vartheta(x) = O(x) \Rightarrow \rho(x) = O(x)$  as well.

$$|\rho(x)| < M_4 x. \tag{5.1}$$

For some constant  $M_4$  and x > 1. Suppose we assume that for some  $0 < \alpha < 8$ ,

$$|\rho(x)| < \alpha x. \tag{5.2}$$

is true for all  $x > x_0 > e^{M_2/\delta}$ .

We set,  $\delta = \alpha/8$ . It follows from Section 5 that intervals of the form  $(x, xe^{M_2/\delta})$  contain an interval  $(y, ye^{\delta/2})$  with,

$$|\rho(z)| < \alpha z/2. \tag{5.3}$$

Using (3.10) and (5.1), we obtain,

#### Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

$$|\rho(x)| \le \frac{1}{\log(x)} \sum_{n \le x} |\rho(\frac{x}{n})| + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right)$$

$$< M_4 \frac{x}{\log(x)} \sum_{(x/x_0) \le n \le x} \frac{1}{n} + \frac{x}{\log(x)} \sum_{n \le (x/x_0)} \frac{1}{n} |\frac{n}{x} \rho(\frac{x}{n})| + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right),$$

Putting  $\nu = e^{M_2/\delta}$ , and applying (5.2) and (5.3),

$$\begin{split} |\rho(x)| &< \frac{\alpha x}{\log(x)} \sum_{n \leq (x/x_0)} \frac{1}{n} - \frac{\alpha x}{2\log(x)} \sum_{1 \leq r \leq (\log(x/x_0)/\log(\nu))} \sum_{y_r \leq n \leq y_r e^{\delta/2}, \nu^{r-1} < y_r \leq \nu^r e^{-\delta/2}} \frac{1}{n} + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right) \\ &= \alpha x - \frac{\alpha x}{2\log(x)} \sum_{1 \leq r \leq (\log(x/x_0)/\log(\nu)} \delta/2 + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right) \\ &= \alpha x - \frac{\alpha \delta}{4\log(\nu)} x + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right) \\ &= \alpha \left(1 - \frac{\alpha^2}{256M_2}\right) x + O\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\log(x)}}\right) < \alpha \left(1 - \frac{\alpha^2}{300M_2}\right) x \;. \end{split}$$

for any  $x > x_1$ .

Clearly, if we look at the iteration process,

$$\alpha_{n+1} = \alpha_n \left( 1 - \frac{\alpha_n^2}{300M_2} \right),$$

It is evident that, the sequence  $\{\alpha_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to zero if, we start the iteration, for instance, with  $\alpha = 4$  (It can be verified quite easily that, then  $\alpha_n < \frac{M_5}{\sqrt{n}}$ . Also  $\{\alpha_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is monotonic decreasing and only has a fixed point at  $\alpha = 0$ . This implies that,

$$\frac{\rho(x)}{x} \to 0$$
.

This completes the proof of the *Prime Number Theorem*.

### Acknowledgments

I'll always be grateful to **Prof. Baskar Balasubramanyam** (Associate Professor, Department of Mathematics, IISER Pune, India), whose unconditional support and guidance helped me in understanding the topic and developing interest towards Analytic Number Theory.

Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

Licensed Under Creative Commons Attribution CC BY

Paper ID: SR231121153834

### International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR)

ISSN: 2319-7064 SJIF (2022): 7.942

#### Statements and Declarations

#### Conflicts of Interest Statement

I as the sole author of this article certify that I have no affiliations with or involvement in any organization or entity with any financial interest (such as honoraria; educational grants; participation in speakers' bureaus; membership, employment, consultancies, stock ownership, or other equity interest; and expert testimony or patent-licensing arrangements), or non-financial interest (such as personal or professional relationships, affi liations, knowledge or beliefs) in the subject matter or materials discussed in this manuscript.

#### Data Availability Statement

I as the sole author of this aarticle confirm that the data supporting the findings of this study are available within the article [and/or] its supplementary materials.

#### References

- [1] Tom M. Apostol, *Introduction to Analytic Number Theory*, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, Springer, 1976.
- [2] Atle Selberg, An Elementary Proof Of the prime Number Theorem, Annals of Mathematics, Second Series, Vol. 50, No. 2(Apr., 1949), pp. 305-313.

- [3] Dorian Goldfield, THE ELEMENTARY PROOF OF THE PRIME NUMBER THEOREM: AN HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE.
  - URL: http://www.math.columbia.edu/~goldfield/ErdosSelbergDispute.pdf
- [4] G.J.O. Jameson, *The Prime Number Theorem*, Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2003, London Mathematical Society student texts, Vol. 53, ISBN-13: 9780521891103.

Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net

Licensed Under Creative Commons Attribution CC BY

Paper ID: SR231121153834

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.21275/SR231121153834

- [5] K.E. Aubert, E. Bombieri, D. Goldfeld, Number theory, trace formulas and discrete groups, symposium in honor of Atle Selberg, Academic Press Inc. Boston (1989).
- [6] J. Chen, On the representation of a large even integer as the sum of a prime and the product of at most two primes, Sci. Sinica 16 (1973), 157–176.
- [7] H.G. Diamond, Elementary methods in the study of the distribution of prime numbers, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. vol. 7 number 3 (1982), 553–589.
- [8] P. Erdös, On a new method in elementary number theory which leads to an elementary proof of the prime number theorem, Proc. Nat. Acad. Scis. U.S.A. 35 (1949), 374–384.
- [9] J. Hadamard, Étude sur les proprietés des fonctions entiéres et en particulier d'une fonction considérée par Riemann, J. de Math. Pures Appl. (4) 9 (1893), 171–215; reprinted in Oeuvres de Jacques Hadamard, C.N.R.S., Paris, 1968, vol 1, 103–147.
- [10] J. Hadamard, Sur la distribution des zéros de la fonction  $\zeta(s)$  et ses conséquences arithmétiques, Bull. Soc. Math. France 24 (1896), 199–220; reprinted in Oeuvres de Jacques Hadamard, C.N.R.S., Paris, 1968, vol 1, 189–210.
- [11] A.E. Ingham, Review of the two papers: An elementary proof of the prime-number theorem, by A. Selberg and On a new method in elementary number theory which leads to an elementary proof of the prime number theorem, by P. Erdös., Reviews in Number Theory as printed in Mathematical Reviews 1940-1972, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, RI (1974). See N20-3, Vol. 4, 191-193.

Volume 12 Issue 11, November 2023

www.ijsr.net